# EFFECT OF PERFUSATE VOLUME ON AMIKACIN CONCENTRATIONS AFTER SAPHENOUS INTRAVENOUS REGIONAL LIMB PERFUSION IN STANDING, SEDATED HORSES

By

# KELSEY JUREK

Doctor of Veterinary Medicine University of Minnesota College St. Paul, Minnesota

2017

Bachelor of Science University of Wisconsin – River Falls River Falls, Wisconsin

# 2013

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE May, 2022

# EFFECT OF PERFUSATE VOLUME ON AMIKACIN CONCENTRATIONS AFTER SAPHENOUS INTRAVENOUS REGIONAL LIMB PERFUSION IN STANDING, SEDATED HORSES

Thesis Approved:

Mike J. Schoonover, DVM, MS, DACVS, DACVSMR

Thesis Adviser

Megan R. Williams, DVM, DACVS-LA

Daniel J. Burba, DVM, DACVS

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

My sincerest thanks to my ACVS mentors, Drs. Mike Schoonover, Megan Williams, and Dan Burba, who each contributed a massive amount of expertise, guidance, patience, and support to both my Master's degree and to my residency. A special thanks to Dr. Schoonover for also serving as both my residency advisor and as my thesis advisor, and for his undeniable support of my career development and research interests.

My thanks to all those that assisted with this project throughout: Dr. Hugh Duddy and Cherlyn Simpson for their help with data collection, Jessica Schultz for her care and keeping of our research horses, and Dr. Pratyaydipta Rudra for his expertise and guidance in the field of statistics.

Thanks also to the Oklahoma State University College of Veterinary Medicine Research Advisory Committee and to Aurora Pharmaceuticals, Inc. for their financial assistance with the project described within this thesis.

To everyone who has supported my education and career aspirations along the way, I extend my utmost gratitude.

Acknowledgements reflect the views of the author and are not endorsed by committee members or Oklahoma State University.

## Name: KELSEY JUREK

# Date of Degree: MAY, 2022

# Title of Study: EFFECT OF PERFUSATE VOLUME ON AMIKACIN CONCENTRATIONS AFTER SAPHENOUS INTRAVENOUS REGIONAL LIMB PERFUSION IN STANDING, SEDATED HORSES

# Major Field: VETERINARY BIOMEDICAL SCIENCES

Abstract: The objective of this study was to determine the influence of perfusate volume on synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the joints of the hind limb after standing saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion (IV-RLP). A randomized cross-over study design was utilized, and six adult horses served as animal subjects. Saphenous IV-RLP was performed in six standing horses with 1 g of amikacin diluted with 0.9% NaCl to volumes of 10 mL, 60 mL, and 120 mL. Samples of synovial fluid from the tarsocrural, metatarsophalangeal, and hind limb distal interphalangeal joints were collected at 15 and 30 minutes after perfusate administration. Concentrations of 40 µg/mL and 160 µg/mL were considered therapeutic for susceptible and resistant pathogens, respectively. No difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations was detected between volumes in any joint (p=0.4). All synovial fluid amikacin concentrations were higher at 30 minutes compared to 15 minutes (p=0.003). All median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations at 30 minutes were > 40  $\mu$ g/mL using the 60 mL and 120 mL volumes. Synovial fluid amikacin concentrations > 40  $\mu$ g/mL were only reached in the distal interphalangeal joint when the 10 mL volume was used. All median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations observed were  $< 160 \text{ }\mu\text{g/mL}$ . Target concentrations for pathogens considered susceptible were consistently reached with perfusate volumes of 60 mL and 120 mL. However, median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations did not reach target levels for resistant pathogens. Perfusate volumes of 60 mL or 120 mL are recommended to treat infections due to susceptible pathogens in the joints of the distal hind limb. These results justify investigation of saphenous IV-RLP with different perfusate volumes using higher doses of amikacin.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	5
Early Research	5
Efficacy	7
Route of Administration	9
Drug Selection	10
Standing Sedation vs General Anesthesia	16
Dosages	17
Frequency of Administration	18
Optimal Vessel	19
Tourniquet Type, Number, and Duration	19
Exsanguination	21
Volume of Perfusate	22
III. METHODOLOGY	24
Animals	24
IV-RLP	24
Samples	25
Amikacin Concentration Analysis	27
Target Concentrations	27
Statistical Analysis	28

Chapter	Page
IV. FINDINGS	29
V. CONCLUSION	33
REFERENCES	39
APPENDICES	46

# LIST OF TABLES

Table		Page
1	Regional intravenous pressure (mmHg) measured immediately after saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion of 1g of amikacin using 3 perfusate volumes in 6 standing horses	30
2	Mean, median, and ranges of amikacin concentrations in the serum (system the synovial fluid of the tarsocrural joint (TCJ), metatarsophalangeal joint (MTPJ), and hind limb distal interphalangeal joint (HL-DIPJ) of 6 horses a and 30 minutes after saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion using different perfusate volumes (10mL, 60mL, and 120mL) containing 1g of amikacin	nic) and at 15 31

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1	Median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the tarsocrural joint (TCJ), metatarsophalangeal joint (MTPJ), and hind limb distal interphalangeal joint (HL- DIPJ) of six horses at 15 and 30 minutes following saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion using different perfusate volumes (10mL, 60mL, &120mL) containing 1g of amikacin

# CHAPTER I

#### INTRODUCTION

Synovial structures include joints, tendon sheaths, and bursae, all of which are closed spaces with a mesenchymal synovial lining that produces synovial fluid as well as maintains a very specific cellular and biochemical environment within the synovial space. Bacterial contamination of these structures can result from penetrating cutaneous wounds, hematogenous spread, local extension of a perisynovial infection, or iatrogenic inoculation during synoviocentesis. Potentiating factors for establishing infection within synovial structures include the presence of foreign material or devitalized tissue; the nature and number of infectious organisms; and immunologic status of the patient (McIlwraith et al. 2015). Regarding synovial sepsis in adult horses, Staphylococcus aureus is the most commonly isolated bacteria (34.3%) (Robinson et al. 2016). In neonates, common bacterial isolates include Escherichia coli, Salmonella, Actinobacillus equuli, Klebsiella spp, Staphylococcus, Streptococcus, and Rhodococcus equi (Glass and Watts 2017). The pathophysiology of synovial sepsis begins with the release of enzymes and free radicals in response to colonization of the synovium. A rapid influx of inflammatory cells follows, predominated by neutrophils (McIlwraith et al. 2015). These neutrophils, along with the activated synoviocytes, produce destructive enzymes such as collagenase, caseinase, lysozyme, elastase, cathepsin G, and gelatinase (Palmer and Bertone 1994; Spiers et al. 1994; McIlwraith et al. 2015). Other inflammatory mediators produced include eicosanoids, interleukins, and tumor necrosis factor (Bertone et al. 1993). These enzymes trigger production of degradative enzymes from the chondrocytes, ultimately leading to deterioration of the articular cartilage. Established synovial

infection frequently produces a fibrinocellular material (pannus) that can house foreign material or devitalized tissue and acts as a nidus for continued bacterial infection (McIlwraith et al. 2015). In treating septic synovial structures, objectives include removal of foreign material and pannus, the debridement of contaminated tissues, elimination of microorganisms, removal of destructive enzymes and free radicals, and restoration of a normal synovial environment (McIlwraith et al. 2015). Prompt, aggressive synovial lavage is the mainstay of treatment. Ideally, this high-volume lavage is performed under general anesthesia with endoscopic guidance. Benefits of endoscopic examination include rapid fluid delivery, ability to remove fibrin/pannus, debridement of devitalized tissue, and thorough evaluation of the joint surface or tendinous structures. In refractory cases, arthrotomy and open drainage may become necessary but carries a higher risk of ascending bacterial infection (Schneider 1998). Judicious use of antimicrobials is also an essential component of successful treatment.

Treatment of horses with synovial sepsis is often a significant challenge for equine practitioners. Approximately 24% of horses reported to survive septic synovitis fail to return to their previous or intended use (Beccar-Varela et al. 2011). This poor response to treatment stems from the poor vascularity of the distal limb joints and the minimal blood supply to the lower limbs of horses in general. Additionally, systemic administration of antimicrobials at recommended doses often does not achieve concentrations in the synovial compartments considered therapeutic for common pathogens. In addition to systemic therapy, local delivery of antimicrobials is associated with improved clinical outcome attributed to extremely high doses of antimicrobials instilled in and maintained close to infected tissues (Ahern and Richardson 2012). Regional limb perfusion (RLP) is one such delivery method. This technique involves isolation of an area of the limb using a single or multiple tourniquets followed by injection of an antimicrobial or other drug either into a peripheral vein (intravenous; IV) or into the medullary cavity of a bone (intraosseous; IO) within the isolated region. IV-RLP has proven to be a very cost-effective, minimally invasive,

and safe technique that achieves high concentrations of an antibiotic in the synovial structures of a limb without subjecting the patient to potential side-effects seen with higher than recommended systemic doses (Rubio-Martinez and Cruz 2006; Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012; Kelmer 2016). In order to address inconsistencies in IV-RLP among practitioners, many experimental studies have been performed focusing on variables such as antimicrobial dose, peripheral vessel used, tourniquet type and number, duration of perfusion, and the effect of recumbency (Levine et al. 2010; Kelmer et al. 2013; Mahne et al. 2014; Harvey et al. 2016; Aristizabal et al. 2016; Kilcoyne et al. 2016; Schoonover et al. 2017). The impact of different perfusate volumes containing the same quantity of antimicrobial has been evaluated for cephalic (Moser et al. 2016; Oreff et al. 2016) and digital (Hyde et al. 2013; Godfrey et al. 2016) IV-RLP but not for IV-RLP administered via the saphenous vein. Saphenous IV-RLP has been shown to result in similar antimicrobial concentrations in the synovial fluid of the fetlock as cephalic IV-RLP using a 100 mL perfusate volume (Kelmer et al. 2013a), but some describe a volume of 60 mLs as typical (Stewart and Richardson 2019) and more commonly used in clinical settings (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012). Several studies have reported antimicrobial concentrations in the synovial fluid of the metatarsophalangeal joint (MTPJ) (Kelmer et al. 2013a; Kelmer et al. 2013b; Kelmer et al. 2015; Kelmer et al. 2017), and the tarsocrural joint (TCJ) (Scheuch et al. 2002; Snowden et al. 2019; Kilcoyne et al. 2021) after saphenous IV-RLP (Scheuch et al. 2002). However, an extensive review of the current veterinary literature identified no studies evaluating antimicrobial concentrations achieved in the hind limb distal interphalangeal joint (HL-DIPJ) with IV-RLP.

The objective of this study was to establish if volume of perfusate influenced synovial fluid amikacin concentrations of the TCJ, MTPJ, and HL-DIPJ after saphenous IV-RLP perfusate containing 1g amikacin. As previously demonstrated with cephalic IV-RLP (Moser et al. 2016), we hypothesized that volume of perfusate would not significantly affect amikacin concentrations achieved in the synovial fluid of the TCJ, MTPJ and HL-DIPJ after saphenous IVRLP at 15 and 30 minutes. Additionally, similar to cephalic IV-RLP (Moser et al. 2016), we hypothesized the synovial fluid amikacin concentration observed in the joints of the lower limb (HL-DIPJ & MCPJ) would be significantly higher than those achieved in the TCJ at 15 and 30 minutes after saphenous IV-RLP. Lastly, it was hypothesized that the larger perfusate volumes (60 & 120 mL) would result in a higher regional intravenous pressure leading to more horses with detectable systemic amikacin concentrations, indicating a higher frequency of leakage of the perfusate beyond the tourniquet into the systemic circulation than the 10 mL volume.

# CHAPTER II

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

#### Early Research

Use of local anesthetic agents to provide regional analgesia after the application of a tourniquet was first reported in humans in 1908 (Bier 1908; Biasutti et al. 2021). Subsequently, researchers began investigating a similar technique to administer chemotherapeutic agents regionally in an attempt to shelter portions of the bone marrow and intestines from the deleterious effects of the drug on the hemopoietic and gastrointestinal systems (Karnofsky et al. 1948a; Karnofsky et al. 1948b). Following these animal studies, the IO regional perfusion technique became a method of delivering systemically toxic chemotherapeutic agents to locally malignant tumors in humans (Creech et al. 1958). In 1961, Ryan et al. reported on the use of regional perfusion of antibiotics in cases of chronic soft tissue infection in human medicine, citing the need for a technique to treat localized infections that were resistant to systemic or topical antimicrobial administration. A number of useful modifications of the regional perfusion method for use in human patients were subsequently discussed and described, including antitoxin and antifungal treatments, and treatment of osteomyelitis (Hurley et al. 1966; Finsterbusch et al. 1970; Finsterbusch and Weinberg 1972; Jones et al. 1973).

In 1992(a), Whitehair et al. described IO-RLP of the equine carpus with gentamicin. Using radiographic contrast medium, they demonstrated that perfusate was uniformly distributed throughout the radiocarpal joint (RCJ) and intercarpal joint (ICJ) synovial membranes and

periarticular tissues, and that high levels of gentamicin were achieved in the RCJ, leading to the conclusion that IO-RLP could be a beneficial adjunctive therapy in the treatment of septic arthritis (Whitehair et al. 1992a). The group went on to perform a study comparing the use of gentamicin IV (systemically) or via IO-RLP in horses with experimentally induced septic synovitis (Whitehair et al. 1992b). The RCJ was subjected to bacterial contamination via intraarticular injection of a *Staphylococcus aureus* suspension. Horses were then treated by either IO-RLP with 1g gentamicin or with 2.2 mg/kg gentamicin IV every six hours. Gentamicin concentrations in the synovial fluid of the horses in the IO-RLP group were significantly higher than those in the group administered gentamicin IV (Whitehair et al. 1992b). The mean leukocyte count in the inoculated joints was also significantly decreased at 24 hours after perfusion compared to immediately before (Whitehair et al. 1992b). Terminal bacterial cultures of the synovial fluid and synovial membranes were negative in two of the horses treated with IO-RLP, while S. aureus was isolated from the joints in all three horses treated with gentamicin IV (Whitehair et al. 1992b). The results of the study demonstrated the clinical benefit of RLP with antibiotics when compared to IV administration in an experimentally induced bacterial contamination model. The group also reported the use of RLP with various antibiotics in three horses with osteomyelitis associated with orthopedic implants (Whitehair et al. 1992c). Antimicrobial choices for each case were made based on culture and sensitivity results, and all perfusions were performed under general anesthesia. Additionally, all perfusions were performed via an IO catheter save for one, which was performed via an IV catheter placed in the lateral plantar digital vein. In two of the three horses, infections were reportedly resolved without removal of the orthopedic implants (Whitehair et al. 1992c). Variability existed between drug, dose, frequency, route, and location of the perfusions between horses, but the study demonstrated clinically relevant use of the RLP technique and paved the way for further development of RLP in horses.

From these early studies, the need for further research to establish guidelines for the number and timing of perfusions was recognized. Additionally, assessment of efficacy of various antimicrobials in both humans and horses became a vested topic of interest. Beyond the type of drug used, many variations in the technique have since been studied, including dose, volume and concentration of perfusate, dosing interval, type and duration of tourniquet used, and whether the procedure is performed anesthetized or standing.

#### Efficacy

The mechanism of action for perfusion of antibiotics to such high concentrations regionally is not entirely understood. Several theories have been proposed. One study suggests an increase in local venous pressure and distention of the vessel with an antibiotic creates a concentration gradient that drives the drug from the isolated peripheral vasculature into the surrounding tissues (Brumbaugh 2005; Rubio-Martinez et al. 2006; Moser et al. 2016). Other studies suggest increased hydrostatic pressure, vessel stretching, and loosening of endothelial cell attachments allows antimicrobials to move into the tissues (Langer et al. 1996; Godfrey et al. 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021). The high regional concentration may also create a depot phenomenon, delaying or preventing return of the drug to systemic circulation (Finsterbusch et al. 1970).

As a therapeutic option, RLP has been evaluated and reported to be beneficial in several retrospective clinical studies. Rubio-Martinez et al. (2012) reported on use of RLP as part of the treatment regimen in 174 horses. 96 horses presented with synovial sepsis, 50 horses presented with extrasynovial lacerations or minimally contaminated intrasynovial lacerations without evidence of infection, and 28 horses had other conditions. The study reported a 53% survival rate for horses with synovial sepsis, with 80% of survivors returning to their previous level of work (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012). The group of horses with lacerations had a much more favorable survival rate at 92%, and 73% of these horses returned to their previous use (Rubio-Martinez et al.

al. 2012). However, 99% of cases included in the study also received systemic antimicrobials, and 62.5% had intrasynovial administration of antimicrobials at some point during treatment, making a direct comparison between RLP and outcome very difficult (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012). In a study by Kelmer et al. (2012), indwelling cephalic or saphenous venous catheters were used for IV-RLP to treat 44 horses with synovial contamination or infection of the distal aspect of the limb. Synovial sepsis of the distal portion of 87% of limbs (39) resolved, and 61% of horses returned to soundness (Kelmer et al. 2012). Catheter-related complications occurred in 27% of the limbs but were not significantly associated with outcome (Kelmer et al. 2012). IV-RLP was performed as an adjunct therapy on 43/62 cases (69.3%) in a retrospective study assessing the effect of arthroscopic lavage and repeated intraarticular administrations of antibiotic in adult horses and foals with septic arthritis (Cousty et al. 2017). The study reported a high success rate (95%), stating that a combination of systemic and regional (intrasynovial +/- IV or IO) administration of antibiotics with synovial lavage appears crucial to eradicate septic synovitis in horses (Cousty et al. 2017). A direct analysis between treatment with RLP and outcome was not made, limiting the validity of this statement within this particular study. In 2018, Rinnovati et al described diagnosis, treatment, surgical management, and outcome in 16 foals affected by septic arthritis of the TCJ. The report suggested that use of RLP after arthroscopic treatment based on sensitivity of bacteria greatly reduced the need to perform a second arthroscopy, but this statement was based on clinical impression and IV-RLP was only performed in 5/16 foals (Rinnovati et al. 2018).

Other studies have suggested that RLP does not improve outcome in adult horses or foals with septic synovitis. Wereszka et al. (2007) found no significant difference between outcome (survival or return to function) and use of secondary treatments, including IV-RLP, in horses treated for septic tenosynovitis. However, only 9/51 horses (18%) received IV-RLP as a secondary treatment, and a direct comparison was not made between horses receiving IV-RLP

and other secondary treatments utilized (implantation of PMMA beads, continuous antimicrobial infusion devices, or ingress-egress drain systems) (Wereszka et al. 2007). In another study, the influence of post-operative management on short- and long-term outcome in horses with synovial structure involvement following solar foot penetrations was assessed (Findley et al. 2014). There was some evidence from the univariable analysis that intraoperative IV-RLP may have a positive effect on survival to discharge, while post-operative IV-RLP was not significantly associated with outcome (Findley et al. 2014). Only 21 cases received intraoperative IV-RLP and 11 cases received post-operative IV-RLP, making it possible that the lack of effect seen was due to insufficient sample size, or because selection of IV-RLP was associated with other treatment factors (Findley et al. 2014).

In several retrospective studies, use of IV-RLP in distal limb injury and septic synovitis is described as an adjunct therapy (Milner et al. 2014; Orsini 2017; Wright et al. 2017). However, direct comparisons between outcome and treatment with IV-RLP are not made, preventing the reader from drawing any conclusions regarding efficacy of IV-RLP from these reports.

#### Route of Administration

As already implied, early development of the RLP technique involved drilling a tract through the cortex of a long bone and administering the drug directly into the medullary cavity. Although RLP are now typically performed IV, the IO technique was the first to be implemented in early research and clinical application (Whitehair et al. 1992c; Mattson et al. 2004). Suggested advantages of the IO technique were ease of accessibility, should soft tissue swelling or injury preclude the use of the peripheral venous system (Biasutti et al. 2021). However, the technique is much more invasive and requires use of specialized orthopedic equipment. The IV route of administration has since gained favor over the IO route for its ease of application and minimal side effects. Several studies have been performed to compare the two methods. Scheuch et al.

(2002) found higher concentrations of amikacin in the TCJ following IV-RLP when compared to IO-RLP. Another study found higher amikacin concentrations in the forelimb distal interphalangeal joint (FL-DIPJ) with IV-RLP compared to IO-RLP (Butt et al. 2001). However, there were no significant differences in time to peak concentration or elimination half-life between methods for each synovial structure studied, and each technique produced mean peak amikacin concentrations ranging from 5 to 50 times the minimum inhibitory concentration (MIC) (Butt et al. 2001).

The IO-RLP has also been reported to result in more significant adverse effects when compared to IV-RLP. Parker et al. (2010) described a case in which IO-RLP with gentamicin into the proximal phalanx was used to treat FL-DIPJ and navicular bursa synovial sepsis. Reported complications at the perfusion site included persistent osteomyelitis, progressive osteonecrosis, and ultimately pathologic fracture of the proximal phalanx (Parker et al. 2010). While the findings at necropsy were suggestive of a toxic osteonecrosis secondary to IO-RLP (Parker et al. 2010), several other factors such as antimicrobial selection and the high antimicrobial dose used could have played a role in development of these adverse effects. The most common adverse effects associated with the IV-RLP include swelling at the injection site, extravasation of perfusate subcutaneously, phlebitis, or thrombosis of the peripheral vessel (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012; Biasutti et al. 2021). These complications are minimized with adequate restraint and sedation and are typically easily managed should they occur. Levine et al. (2009) reported a significant decrease in limb swelling after topical application of 1% diclofenac ointment, which can easily be employed in the clinical setting.

#### Drug Selection

Aminoglycosides are the most commonly utilized antimicrobials for RLP given their concentration-depending pharmacokinetics, free distribution through the interstitial fluid

compartment, and good spectrum of activity against commonly isolated equine orthopedic pathogens (Beccar-Varela et al. 2011; Ahern and Richardson 2012; Biasutti et al. 2021). A peak concentration (Cmax) of 8-10 times the MIC is recommended to obtain suitable bacteriocidal activity (CLSI 2020) and achieving a maximum Cmax:MIC ratio is also suggested to result in enhanced post-antibiotic effect (Murphey et al. 1999; Biasutti et al. 2021).

Of the available aminoglycosides, amikacin is often preferred. Amikacin has a wide spectrum of activity against orthopedic pathogens but is cost-prohibitive and potentially toxic to use systemically in adult horses, limiting its use to regional or local administration. A large range of synovial fluid amikacin concentrations have been reported in the currently available literature (Kelmer et al. 2013a; Mahne et al. 2014; Kilcoyne et al. 2016; Harvey et al. 2016; Moser et al. 2016; Oreff et al. 2016; Kilcoyne et al. 2018; Gustafsson et al. 2020; Kilcoyne et al. 2021). Discrepancies in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations between studies may be explained by the dose of amikacin used, discussed further in an upcoming section.

Gentamicin has also been evaluated for use in RLP treatments in horses (Whitehair et al. 1992b; Mattson et al. 2004; Werner et al. 2005; Hyde et al. 2013). As previously discussed, Whitehair et al. (1992b) compared the use of gentamicin IV with administration via IO-RLP in horses with experimentally induced septic synovitis. Mattson et al. (2004) found that standing IO-RLP of gentamicin resulted in local antibiotic concentrations in the synovial structures and bones of the distal limb that exceed the reported MIC of pathogens commonly implicated in equine orthopedic infections. Werner et al. (2005) noted no difference in bone gentamicin concentration obtained with intraarticular or IV-RLP administration, and synovial fluid concentration remained above MIC for common pathogens for over 24 hours with both methods. Hyde et al. (2013) compared varying perfusate volumes containing gentamicin and found wide variability and low (< 20  $\mu$ g/mL) gentamicin concentrations in synovial fluid following digital IV-RLP in some of the limbs studied.

Time-dependent antimicrobials have also been used for IV-RLP, with varying results in synovial fluid concentrations. Ceftiofur is reported to be particularly well-suited for RLP in horses due to its broad spectrum of activity, particularly with beta-lactamase producing bacteria, and its proposed efficacy related to peak serum concentrations in veterinary species (Cox et al. 2017; Biasutti et al. 2021). Several studies suggest that ceftiofur administered daily via an IV-RLP may be appropriate for certain cases. Pille et al. (2005) performed an experimental study in normal horses and reported RCJ synovial fluid ceftiofur concentrations above MIC for >24 hours following cephalic IV-RLP with 2g of ceftiofur. Additionally, mean RCJ synovial fluid ceftiofur concentrations were consistently higher after cephalic IV-RLP compared to that after IV administration (Pille et al. 2005). In another study, ceftiofur administration via cephalic IV-RLP maintained plasma concentrations above MIC for 12 hours, while subcutaneous tissue concentrations were maintained above MIC for 24 hours (Cox et al. 2017). Bone concentrations were only above MIC immediately after tourniquet removal (Cox et al. 2017). Using cephalic IV-RLP, Bonilla et al. (2021) reported MCPJ ceftiofur synovial concentrations above MIC in only 72% and 50% of the horses 5 minutes and 8 hours after tourniquet removal, respectively. Synovial fluid ceftiofur concentrations at 24 hours were consistently below the MIC for all horses, suggesting daily cephalic IV-RLP with 2 g of ceftiofur may not achieve therapeutic concentrations in the MCPJ (Bonilla et al. 2021). Additionally, median ceftiofur concentrations did not routinely reach the 8 to 9 times MIC values recommended to increase the efficacy of betalactams (Bonilla et al. 2021). A study by Oreff et al. (2017) investigated use of ceftazidime administered via cephalic IV-RLP and found that synovial fluid concentrations in the MCPJ were 15 times higher than the MIC for most bacteria involved in equine orthopedic infections, including resistant pathogens such as *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (MIC =  $16 \mu g/mL$ ). However, synovial concentrations decreased quickly and remained above the MIC in only 1 horse by 6 hours postperfusion, leading the authors to recommend that once daily IV-RLP with 2 g ceftazidime in standing horses may not be effective in a clinical setting (Oreff et al. 2017). This

study by Oreff et al. clearly demonstrates that the favorable results reported by some studies using IV-RLP of ceftiofur should not be extrapolated to the use of other third-generation cephalosporins.

A number of other antimicrobials have been evaluated for use for RLP in an experimental setting, but use of these antimicrobials in the clinical setting is uncommon. Of the fluoroquinolones, enrofloxacin and marbofloxacin have been studied (Parra-Sanchez et al. 2006; Lallemand et al. 2013). Enrofloxacin concentrations following cephalic IV-RLP have been shown to exceed MIC for approximately 24 hours in subcutaneous tissue and synovial fluid of the RCJ, and for 36 hours in bone marrow of the third metacarpal bone (Parra-Sanchez et al. 2006). However, 3 of 7 study horses developed vasculitis following IV-RLP with enrofloxacin, and the drug is known to cause developmental cartilage abnormalities in young horses; therefore, its use in the clinical setting should be approached with caution (Parra-Sanchez et al. 2006). Marbofloxacin showed high variability of concentrations in the synovial fluid of the RCJ following cephalic IV-RLP (Lallemand et al. 2013). The study noted that single daily IV-RLP of 0.67 mg/kg of marbofloxacin (1/3 the recommended systemic dose) should be effective in treating most important pathogens in horses, but that efficacy variables reported for *Streptococcus* spp. indicate that marbofloxacin administered by IV-RLP might not be effective against this pathogen (Lallemand et al. 2013). Additionally, no clinical or ultrasonographic signs of phlebitis or thrombophlebitis after IV-RLP administration were observed, but a significant increase in thickness of subcutaneous tissue observed on treated limbs compared to the control limbs indicates that potential for local inflammation exists with repeated administration (Lallemand et al. 2013). Chloramphenicol administered via IV-RLP yielded concentrations in the synovial fluid of the MCPJ and MCPJ initially far above the MIC of most susceptible pathogens and significantly higher than the MIC of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA), but only remained at these levels for up to 6 hours (Kelmer et al. 2015). The study did not report any

adverse effects with its use (Kelmer et al. 2015). From the macrolide classification of antibiotics, erythromycin was found to consistently reach therapeutic concentrations in the synovial fluid of the fetlock joints when using the saphenous or cephalic veins for IV-RLP, but not when the palmar digital vein is used (Kelmer et al. 2013b). No adverse effects were noted with use of erythromycin (Kelmer et al. 2013b). The use of vancomycin, a glycopeptide antibiotic, was evaluated by Rubio-Martinez et al. (2005). Vancomycin concentrations exceeded MIC for susceptible pathogens in MCPJs for approximately 20 hours following IV-RLP (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2005). Additionally, higher concentrations were reached in FL-DIPJs than in MCPJs (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2005). No complications or significant differences in renal function, lameness, or clinical variables were observed between treatment and control groups (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2005). Carbapenems, a "last-line" group of antibiotics, have been evaluated experimentally but, due to emerging resistance (Biasutti et al. 2021), would be rarely used in the clinical setting. Kelmer et al. (2017) found that the imipenem Cmax in the fetlock joint following cephalic or saphenous IV-RLP of a 500 mg dose was 87 and 60 µg/mL, respectively. These concentrations are well above the MIC of most susceptible pathogens, including resistant bacteria such as MRSA and *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* (Kelmer et al. 2017). Meropenem has also been studied, but with less favorable results. Administration of 500 mg meropenem by cephalic IV-RLP resulted in highly variable RCJ synovial fluid concentrations between horses and only achieved levels above clinically relevant MIC for 4 hours (Fontenot et al. 2018). Mosichuk et al. (2021) performed a retrospective analysis of cases of synovial sepsis treated with meropenem or gentamicin via IV-RLP. 23 meropenem- and 37 gentamicin-treated horses were analyzed (Mosichuk et al. 2021). In the meropenem group, 9 horses received meropenem only; the remainder received another antibiotic initially then changed to meropenem. Overall survival to discharge was 86% (52/60), with meropenem at 91% (21/23) and gentamicin at 84% (31/37) (Mosichuk et al. 2021). No significant differences were noted between meropenem or gentamicin groups for overall survival to discharge or outcome after discharge, and susceptibility to other

antibiotics such as ceftiofur (n = 22/26), ampicillin (n = 18/26), amikacin (n = 15/26), or gentamicin (n = 12/26) was also frequently present (Mosichuk et al. 2021). Therefore, although meropenem appears to result in clinically positive outcomes when administered via IV-RLP, less crucial antimicrobials may be a viable and more judicious treatment option (Mosichuk et al. 2021). Gustafsson et al. produced two studies in 2021 evaluating various antimicrobials administered via cephalic IV-RLP. The first aimed to describe the pharmacokinetics and safety of the administration of trimethoprim-sulphadiazine through a single treatment of cephalic IV-RLP. Several horses in the study suffered from severe vasculitis, and the resulting MCPJ synovial fluid concentration of trimethoprim-sulphadiazine over time was low (Gustafsson et al. 2021a). In light of these findings, the administration of trimethoprim-sulphadiazine to horses using cephalic IV-RLP appears unjustified (Gustafsson et al. 2021a). The second study was performed to determine the concentration of metronidazole in the FL-DIPJ after IV-RLP. High FL-DIPJ synovial fluid metronidazole concentrations (Cmax of  $327 \pm 208 \,\mu$ g/mL) were achieved, and concentrations of metronidazole at 15 and 30 minutes after perfusion were significantly higher than concentrations before perfusion (Gustafsson et al. 2021b). However, the concentrations rapidly decreased below the MIC of potential target pathogens, leading the authors to question the effectiveness of metronidazole administered by cephalic IV-RLP as a sole therapy against anaerobic infections of synovial structures of the distal forelimb (Gustafsson et al. 2021b).

The use of antimicrobial combinations administered via IV-RLP in the horse has also been considered. Imipenem and marbofloxacin were evaluated together by Dahan et al. (2017), resulting in synovial fluid concentrations for both drugs far above the MIC, without any negative effects seen. Amikacin and penicillin have been combined in several studies with varying results (Nieto et al. 2016; Dahan et al. 2019). In one study evaluating concentrations within the MCPJ, the Cmax:MIC ratio for amikacin was 8:1 and time above MIC for penicillin was 6 hours (Nieto et al. 2016). At 24 hours, the mean concentration of amikacin in the MCPJ was still above 4

µg/mL (Nieto et al. 2016). The authors noted that while amikacin and penicillin were successfully combined for use of IV-RLP, penicillin may not be practical as rapid clearance from the synovial fluid requires frequent perfusions to maintain acceptable therapeutic concentrations (Nieto et al. 2016). However, in a later study, the Cmax of both amikacin and penicillin was over 10 times the relevant MIC in the MCPJ of all horses and remained above those MICs for at least 24 hours (Dahan et al. 2019). A study by Zantingh et al. (2014) indicated that the combination of amikacin and ticarcillin-clavulinate used for IV-RLP resulted in reduced amikacin concentrations, citing possible drug interactions, or a structural modification of the amikacin.

Since development of the RLP technique, a number of studies have evaluated a variety of antibiotic choices, making drug selection seem like a potentially daunting task. Ideally, selection of an antimicrobial for use in IV-RLP should be made on the basis of a culture and sensitivity, and in light of reported complications with specific antimicrobials. However, in the absence of a positive culture or when IV-RLP is used to treat empirically based on common equine pathogens, the literature suggests that use of an aminoglycoside is a suitable choice (Biasutti et al. 2021).

#### Standing Sedation vs. General Anesthesia

At the forefront of IV-RLP use in horses, Whitehair et al. (1992a) performed this technique in anesthetized patients. However, use of IV-RLP in standing, sedated horses has gained wide popularity due to its ease of use in the clinical setting, elimination of risks associated with general anesthesia, and cost effectiveness (Biasutti et al. 2021). One study suggests that tissue concentrations achieved in standing, sedated horses may be lower and more variable than those achieved when IV-RLP is performed under general anesthesia, citing decreased movement which can adversely affect the efficacy of the tourniquet (Levine et al. 2010). However, another study found that mean synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in standing sedated horses were significantly higher in the MCPJ at 30 minutes when compared to those in horses under general

anesthesia (Aristizabal et al. 2016). No significant difference was noted in synovial fluid concentrations of the RCJ (Aristizabal et al. 2016). Yet another study showed that synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the ICJ did not differ significantly between cephalic IV-RLP performed in standing, sedated horses versus IV-RLP performed in anesthetized horses (Mahne et al. 2014). This group also found that performing a perineural regional nerve block resulted in less lifting of the limb and improved visual analog scores when compared with sedation alone or with the addition of local anesthesia to the perfusate (Mahne et al. 2014). Based on these results, the use of general anesthesia does not seem to be warranted for the sole purpose of performing an IV-RLP procedure. Additionally, use of perineural anesthesia prior to placement of the tourniquet may result in more compliant patients.

#### Dosages

The range of antimicrobial doses reported for use in IV-RLP is undoubtedly variable. For example, doses of amikacin used for IV-RLP vary from 250 mg to 3 g (Biasutti et al. 2021). Some studies report the use of a scaled dose, administering one-third the horse's systemic dose via IV-RLP (Beccar-Valera et al. 2011; Edwards-Milewski et al. 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021). For gentamicin, reported doses range from 500 mg (Hyde et al. 2013) to a full systemic (6.6 mg/kg) dose (Ahern and Richardson 2012). The appropriate dose of antimicrobials other than aminoglycosides has been less-widely evaluated.

When a 250 mg amikacin dose diluted to 60 mL with saline was used for cephalic IV-RLP in one study, amikacin concentrations did not achieve the recommended 8-10 times MIC in any fluid or tissue tested, leading the authors to suggest that this dose may be too low for clinical use (Parra-Sanchez et al. 2006). Harvey et al. (2016) compared a 2 g dose of amikacin to a 3 g dose, finding a higher concentration in the ICJ after IV-RLP with 3 g amikacin when compared with 2 g. Both doses (2 g and 3 g) achieved ICJ synovial fluid concentrations considered therapeutic for

susceptible pathogens (8-10 times MIC) immediately following cephalic IV-RLP, but only the 3 g dose achieved concentrations high enough to be therapeutic for resistant pathogens (Harvey et al. 2016). The same study showed that in the MCPJ, only the 3 g dose of amikacin achieved synovial fluid concentrations considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens (Harvey et al. 2016). These findings suggest that the appropriate dose of antimicrobials may also depend on the site of infection (Harvey et al. 2016). Moser et al. (2016) evaluated use of 1 g amikacin via cephalic IV-RLP and found higher synovial fluid amikacin concentrations within the FL-DIPJ when compared with the RCJ, supporting the theory that site of infection may influence success of IV-RLP treatment and/or dictate dose required to achieve therapeutic concentrations.

The most commonly reported dose of ceftiofur for IV-RLP is 2 g (Pille et al. 2005; Cox et al. 2017; Bonilla et al. 2021). As previously discussed, use of this dose of ceftiofur for cephalic IV-RLP resulted in concentrations above MIC in the RCJ for >24 hours in one study (Pille et al. 2005) and maintained subcutaneous tissue concentrations above MIC for 24 hours in another study (Cox et al. 2017). Ceftiofur concentrations in the MCPJ were consistently below the MIC for all horses at 24 hours in a more recent study (Bonilla et al. 2021), demonstrating variability in results when the same dose of ceftiofur is used.

Making strict dosing recommendations for clinical application of IV-RLP using antimicrobials is not possible based on the current literature. Dose used appears to be largely arbitrary and based on only a few clinical studies, suggesting that further research is needed.

#### Frequency of Administration

Frequency of IV-RLP administration is often quite variable, but the literature suggests that daily administration is likely to beneficial (Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012; Kelmer et al. 2012; Harvey et al. 2016; Kelmer 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021). There are no current recommendations on the number of treatments considered ideal, but consensus appears to be that treatments should be

repeated as often as is practical based on patient tolerance and response to treatment. A retrospective study by Rubio-Martinez et al. (2012) reported up to 19 perfusions administered to one patient, while another study reported up to 21 perfusions using an indwelling catheter (Kelmer et al. 2012).

#### **Optimal Vessel**

Realistically, any peripheral vessel that can be isolated from systemic circulation using a tourniquet could be utilized for administration of IV-RLP. Most studies have used the cephalic vein, although the saphenous and digital vessels have been evaluated as well (Scheuch et al. 2002; Alkabes et al. 2011; Hyde et al. 2013; Kelmer et al. 2013b; Kelmer et al. 2015; Godfrey et al. 2016; Kelmer et al. 2017; Snowden et al. 2019; Kilcoyne et al. 2021). Use of proximal vessels for treatment of distal limb synovial sepsis or infection appears to be efficacious, as evidenced by high concentrations of antimicrobials found in the distal interphalangeal joint following cephalic IV-RLP (Moser et al. 2016; Schoonover et al. 2017). Advantages of proximal peripheral vessels (namely the cephalic or saphenous veins) include accessibility above bandages or half-limb casts; the unlikelihood that the area of infusion is affected by soft tissue swelling associated with injury to the distal limb; the ability to place indwelling catheters more easily, if desired; and a decreased likelihood that the infusion apparatus is dislodged if movement occurs during perfusion (Biasutti et al. 2021).

#### Tourniquet Type, Number, and Duration

Several varieties of tourniquets are available for clinical use and have been studied experimentally. Pneumatic tourniquets require specialized equipment but allow for standardization of sub-tourniquet pressures between patients. Alternatively, wide rubber or Esmarch tourniquets are easily placed, require no other equipment, are widely available, and are cost-effective from an investment standpoint. However, application of pressure may vary among practitioners and is not as easily repeatable. Levine et al. (2010) evaluated the efficacy of 3 tourniquet types (narrow rubber, wide rubber, and pneumatic) and found that the pneumatic tourniquet resulted in the highest metacarpophalangeal synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in all horses. Additionally, both the pneumatic and wide rubber tourniquets achieved adequate amikacin concentrations (Levine et al. 2010). The narrow rubber tourniquet was found to be ineffective in achieving high concentrations of amikacin in the synovial fluid, and the authors suggest this tourniquet type should not be used for IV-RLP above the carpus in the standing horse (Levine et al. 2010). Subtourniquet pressures of at least 100 mmHg above the systolic blood pressure are suggested in order to occlude venous return and prevent leakage beyond the tourniquet (Rubio-Martinez and Cruz 2006; Alkabes et al. 2011). In one study, wide rubber tourniquets applied at the antebrachium, gaskin, and metacarpal regions generated and maintained subtourniquet pressures >100 mmHg above systolic blood pressure for 30 minutes in standing, sedated horses (Plunkett et al. 2019). Application of a wide rubber tourniquet was implicated in another study as being superior to a pneumatic tourniquet, as indicated by lower amikacin concentrations detected in systemic circulation (Alkabes et al. 2011). Clinically, desired pressure ranges of 250-420 mmHg are reported (Levine et al. 2010; Rubio-Martinez et al. 2012; Biasutti et al. 2021) while experimentally, most studies utilize a pneumatic tourniquet pressure of 400-450 mmHg (Scheuch et al 2002; Levine et al 2010; Alkabes et al. 2011; Aristizabal et al. 2016; Godfrey et al. 2016; Harvey et al. 2016; Moser et al. 2016; Schoonover et al. 2017).

The number of tourniquets required to optimize treatment with IV-RLP in horses has also been evaluated, albeit sparingly. Schoonover et al. (2017) found that synovial fluid amikacin concentrations achieved in the RCJ were significantly higher when a proximal pneumatic tourniquet was combined with a distal Esmarch tourniquet 15 and 30 minutes after perfusion, compared to use of a proximal tourniquet alone. Whitehair et al. (1992a) reported the use of two tourniquets in the forelimb for equine IO-RLP, but evaluation of the effect of this technique was not undertaken as part of that study.

Suggested tourniquet application times range from 10 minutes to 45 minutes (Kilcoyne et al. 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021). Some studies found that maximum amikacin synovial fluid concentrations were reached at 15 minutes after perfusion in the forelimb (Kilcoyne et al. 2018; Gustafsson et al. 2020). Moser et al. (2016) reported no significant difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in either the RCJ or FL-DIPJ at 15 and 30 minutes after perfusion. This result was substantiated by another study performed in 2016 by Kilcoyne et al., which found no significant difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations of the RCJ or MCPJ after cephalic IV-RLP comparing tourniquet times of 10 and 30 minutes.

#### Exsanguination

It is theorized that reducing the volume of blood in the region to be treated via IV-RLP increases the concentration of the perfusate and promotes a more effective concentration gradient for diffusion of the antimicrobial used (Sole et al. 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021). In the horse, limb exsanguination can be performed by the application of an Esmarch bandage around the distal extremity starting at the level of the hoof capsule (Sole et al. 2016). Studies performed to evaluate the need for exsanguination when performing IV-RLP in horses have been contradictory. Sole et al. (2016) reported improved amikacin synovial fluid concentrations in the MCPJ when exsanguination was performed prior to IV-RLP but did not find any significant differences between concentrations in the RCJ. Schoonover et al. (2017) showed no differences in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the RCJ and FL-DIPJ when exsanguination was performed prior to low volume (10 mL) IV-RLP. Further evaluation is necessary to determine the potential benefit of exsanguination prior to performing IV-RLP in horses.

#### Volume of Perfusate

The reported total volume of perfusate varies heavily among studies (Biasutti et al. 2021). The suggested advantages of a smaller perfusate volume include faster infusion of the perfusate, a more concentrated solution that may bolster the subsequent development of a concentration gradient, and reduced vascular pressure that may prevent or reduce leakage of perfusate beyond the tourniquet (Hyde et al. 2013; Moser et al. 2016; Schoonover et al. 2017; Biasutti et al. 2021). From the other perspective, a larger perfusate volume may result in increased vascular pressure that promotes expansion of the spaces between endothelial cells, leading to easier perfusion of the antimicrobial into tissues (Godfrey et al. 2016; Biasutti et al. 2021).

Moser et al. (2016) reported no significant difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the RCJ and FL-DIPJ after cephalic IV-RLP, comparing 4 perfusate volumes (10 mL, 30 mL, 60 mL, and 120 mL) in standing horses. Similarly, Hyde et al. (2013) reported no significant difference in synovial fluid gentamicin concentrations in the MCPJ after digital IV-RLP comparing 3 volumes (10 mL, 30 mL, and 60 mL) in standing horses. On the contrary, Oreff et al. (2016) reported greater synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the MCPJ after cephalic IV-RLP, comparing perfusate volumes of 100 mL, 60 mL, and 30 mL. Godfrey et al. (2016) also reported greater synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the MCPJ after digital IV-RLP using a 60 mL perfusate volume compared to a 10 mL volume in recumbent, anesthetized horses.

Along these lines, and as previously stated, the objective of this study was to establish if volume of perfusate influenced synovial fluid amikacin concentrations of the TCJ, MTPJ, or HL-DIPJ after saphenous IV-RLP perfusate containing 1 g amikacin. We hypothesized that volume of perfusate would not significantly affect amikacin concentrations achieved in the synovial fluid after saphenous IV-RLP at 15 and 30 minutes, and that synovial fluid amikacin concentration observed in the joints of the lower limb (HL-DIPJ & MCPJ) would be significantly higher than

those achieved in the TCJ at 15 and 30 minutes after saphenous IV-RLP. Lastly, it was hypothesized that the larger perfusate volumes (60 &120 mL) would result in a higher regional intravascular pressure leading to more horses with detectable systemic amikacin concentrations, indicating a higher frequency of leakage of the perfusate beyond the tourniquet into the systemic circulation than the 10 mL volume.

# CHAPTER III

#### METHODOLOGY

#### Animals

Six Quarter Horse type horses (4 geldings, 2 mares) ranging in age from 7 to 20 years (median 15 years) and weighing from 393 to 567 kg (median 535.5 kg) were used. All horses were deemed healthy on physical examination. Close visual inspection and palpation of both hind limbs yielded symmetry, normal vascularity, and no signs of acute or chronic injury. All horses were confined to a large paddock and fed grass hay and a 14% protein pelleted ration before and during the study period. All procedures were approved by and performed in accordance with the Oklahoma State University Institutional Animal Care and Use Committee.

#### IV-RLP

Three volumes of perfusate (10 mL, 60 mL, 120 mL) made up of 0.9% NaCl containing 1 g of amikacin (250 mg/ml;4 mL) were used for standing saphenous IV-RLP. A randomized, cross-over study design was used so that each horse was administered three IV-RLPs using a different perfusate volume in a predetermined order (2 – 10 mL, 60 mL, 120 mL; 2 – 60 mL, 120 mL, 10 mL; 2 - 120 mL, 10 mL, 60 mL). A minimum 2-week washout period was used between perfusions. The hind limb for IV-RLP was chosen at random by a coin toss before the first IV-RLP and subsequent IV-RLPs.

Horses were sedated with detomidine HCL (0.01mg/kg IV) and butorphanol tartrate (0.01 mg/kg

IV) administered in the jugular vein contralateral to the hind limb receiving the IV-RLP. Horses were positioned in stocks and tibial and peroneal perineural anesthesia was performed on the selected hind limb using 20 mL of 2% mepivacaine hydrochloride at each site approximately 10 cm proximal to the point of the calcaneus, as described by Moyer et al. (2011b). The dorsomedial aspect of the tarsus, the dorsal and lateral aspects of the MTPJ, and the dorsal coronet were clipped and aseptically prepared with 4% chlorhexidine gluconate scrub and 70% isopropyl alcohol. A 5.7-inch X 23-inch pneumatic tourniquet cuff (Vari Contour Cuff, Delfi Medical Innovations Inc, Vancouver, BC, Canada) was positioned on the gaskin approximately 15cm proximal to the point of the calcaneus. Two wraps of elastic tape (Elastikon, Johnson & Johnson, New Brunswick, NJ) was placed to secure the cuff to the limb and prevent migration before and during cuff inflation. Immediately before, during and for 30 minutes after perfusate administration, the tourniquet was inflated and maintained at 420 mmHg using a pneumatic inflation system (Delfi P.T.S, Delfi Medical Innovations Inc, Vancouver, BC, Canada). In an effort to decrease variability between horses, the tourniquet was placed by the same investigator.

#### Samples

Similar to previous cephalic IV-RLP studies (Moser et al. 2016; Schoonover et al. 2017), a 20gauge 1.5-inch needle was placed into the TCJ (dorsomedial aspect), MTPJ (dorsolateral aspect), and HL-DIPJ (dorsal midline) and capped with a male adaptor injection port, and maintained for synovial fluid sampling. Sterile lactated ringer's solution (LRS) was injected into the TCJ (0.04mL/kg), MTPJ (0.03mL/kg) and HL-DIPJ (0.01mL/kg) at the time of needle placement, but prior to administration of the perfusate, to facilitate fluid recovery from the joint during sampling. The dose of LRS was determined using the high end of the recommended volume of local anesthetic for each individual joint based on a 500 kg horse (Moyer et al. 2011a). Five minutes after the last LRS infusion, baseline samples were collected. Systemic venous blood was collected via direct venipuncture of the ipsilateral jugular vein and synovial fluid (0.5–1.0 mL)

was aspirated from the TCJ, MTPJ and HL-DIPJ via the previously placed needles. Venous blood samples were placed in plain plastic tubes and synovial fluid samples were placed directly into 1mL cryovial tubes (CryoElite, Fisher Scientific, Pittsburgh, PA).

After collection of all baseline samples, the tourniquet was inflated. A 23-gauge winged infusion set was placed in a proximal to distal direction in the ipsilateral saphenous vein distal to the tourniquet. A 3-way stopcock was placed on the winged infusion set tubing and 1 g (4 mL) of amikacin (Amiglyde-V, Zoetis, Florham Park, NJ) combined with either 6 mL, 56 mL, or 116 mL of 0.9% NaCl, the injectate was administered through the right-angled port via a syringe at a steady rate by the same investigator. The amount of time required to administer the entire perfusate volume was recorded. During injection, the injection site was visually monitored for subcutaneous swelling indicating perivascular leakage of the perfusate. Once the entire perfusate volume was administered, a digital pressure gauge (model DPG1000B-760MMHGG; Omega Engineering, Norwalk, Connecticut) was attached to the straight port of the 3-way stopcock. The valve was turned opening the infusion set to the digital pressure gauge and the intravascular pressure was recorded. The needle of the winged infusion set was then removed from its insertion site in the skin and a temporary compressive bandage was placed over the venipuncture site and left in place until the tourniquet was deflated. Ten minutes after the conclusion of the perfusate administration, each horse received an additional sedation dose of detomidine HCL (0.01 mg/kg, IV) by direct jugular venipuncture contralateral to the hind limb receiving the IV-RLP.

Synovial fluid was aspirated from the TCJ, MTPJ and HL-DIPJ, and venous blood was collected from the ipsilateral jugular vein 15 and 30 minutes after perfusate administration. The tourniquet was released after collection of the 30 minute samples and all horses received a single dose of flunixin meglumine (1.1 mg/kg, IV). All venous blood samples were allowed to clot for a minimum of 30 minutes, then centrifuged (Thermo Scientific, Waltham, MA) at 3,500 X g for 5 minutes. The serum was drawn off with a plastic pipette and placed into a 1 mL cryovial tube (CryoElite, Fisher Scientific). All serum and synovial fluid samples were frozen in the cryovial tubes at – 80°C until assayed. Horses were monitored for 2 hours after each IV-RLP procedure to ensure acceptable recovery from sedation and identify any initial complications, after which they were returned to paddock turnout and the IV-RLP site was visually evaluated daily for one week.

#### Amikacin Concentration Analysis

Amikacin concentration was measured using an enzyme immunoassay (Emit® assay, Syra, Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc, Newark, DE) at the Clinical Pharmacology Laboratory at Auburn University. Briefly, a calibration curve was established using a reagent kit (Ref. No. 6X019UL) consisting of amikacin, human serum, and preservatives. Calibration samples were reconstituted with deionized water to yield final concentrations of 2.5, 5, 10, 20, and 50 mg/mL. Quality control was performed before sample analysis. Samples that yielded very high (>3,000 mg/mL) amikacin concentrations were diluted in 3 stages with dilution factors of 10, 100, and 300. To evaluate precision of the process, the same dilution procedure was applied to a 3,000 mg/mL stock solution. The sensitivity of the assay or lowest measurable concentration of amikacin sulfate was  $5.0 \mu g/mL$  for synovial fluid and  $2.5 \mu g/mL$  for serum, thus any measurement equal to or below these concentrations was considered 0.

#### Target Concentrations

Minimum amikacin concentrations in synovial fluid considered therapeutic were based on the recommendation of the subcommittee on Veterinary Antimicrobial Susceptibility Testing (CLSI 2020). For adult horses, the reported MIC of amikacin for common orthopedic pathogens (*Escherichia. coli, Staphylococcus aureus, Streptococcus equi* subsp. *zooepidemicus* and subsp. *equi* and *Pseudomonas* spp.) is  $\leq 4 \mu g/mL$  for susceptible pathogens and  $\geq 16 \mu g/mL$  for resistant pathogens (CLSI 2020). Regional administration of aminoglycosides using 8–10 times the MIC as a target concentration is considered effective (Beccar-Varela et al. 2011). Therefore, target

concentrations of 40  $\mu$ g/mL and 160  $\mu$ g/mL were established for susceptible and resistant pathogens, respectively.

#### Statistical Analysis

The mean amikacin concentration from each location (HL-DIPJ, MTPJ and TCJ) for each time point (baseline, 15 minutes, 30 minutes) for each technique (10 mL, 60 mL, 120 mL) was used for analysis. Log(1+y) transformation was used to achieve normality. Tests for main effects (and all possible interactions) of each factor (each combination of factors) were conducted with a linear mixed effects model and if significant, pairwise comparisons using a Tukey-Kramer test were made among the levels of the factor(s). Significance was determined to be any p-value <0.05.

## CHAPTER IV

#### FINDINGS

No long-term complications associated with the IV-RLPs were noted in any horse. Two horses developed mild edema at the site of saphenous venipuncture, one after the second IV-RLP (60 mL) and one after the third IV-RLP (10 mL). In both instances the edema resolved without treatment in 4-5 days. In three horses, soft tissue swelling of the medial gaskin region was noted 2-3 days after completion of the third IV-RLP. The swellings were attributed to sequential tourniquet application and resolved without intervention 3-4 days later. During six IV-RLPs, limb movement resulted in sample collection needle displacement from the skin at various time points (0-29 minutes; 4-HL-DIPJ, 1-MTPJ, 1-TCJ). In each instance, a new sample collection needle was placed, and synovial fluid was retrieved without further complication. During the IV-RLP of the 10 mL perfusate volume of horse 1, an inadequate amount of synovial fluid was obtained from the HL-DIPJ at all three time points. These time points were excluded from analysis.

Mean regional intravascular pressures measured via the injection catheter immediately after perfusion were not different between volumes (p=0.2; Table 1). Perivascular leakage during perfusate administration was noted during five IV-RLPs (Table 1). When this occurred, either the perfusate administration was slowed without further enlargement of the swelling (2) or the butterfly catheter was removed and reinserted distal to the swelling (3). Mean (range) time for perfusate administration was 1 minute 38 seconds (1:04-2:03) for the 10 mL volume, 5 minutes 6 seconds (2:25-9:08) for the 60 mL volume, and 9 minutes 27 seconds (6:10-13:06) for the 120 mL volume.

 Table 1 Regional intravascular pressure (mmHg) measured immediately after saphenous

 intravenous regional limb perfusion of 1 g of amikacin using 3 perfusate volumes in 6 standing

 horses. <sup>a</sup>Denotes perivascular leakage observed at the injection site during perfusion.

II	Perfusate volume			
Horse #	10mL	60mL	120mL	
1	158	203	136*	
2	60	145	144	
3	95	105*	110*	
4	55	138	147	
5	119	94	104*	
6	58	114	41*	
Mean	91	133	114	
Median	78	126	123	

All mean baseline synovial fluid amikacin concentrations were below the limit of detection of the assay (5.0 µg/mL). Only one baseline synovial fluid sample yielded an amikacin concentration above this limit; 5.4 µg/mL was measured from the synovial fluid of the TCJ from horse 3 using the 120 mL perfusate volume. The mean synovial fluid amikacin concentrations achieved were not different between perfusate volumes used for any joint studied (p=0.4; Table 2.) Additionally, no difference was detected in mean synovial fluid amikacin concentration achieved between joints for any perfusate volume (p=0.5; Table 2). For all joints studied, the mean synovial fluid amikacin concentration achieved at 15 minutes was higher than that at baseline using the same perfusate volume (p=0.0002). Likewise, the mean synovial fluid amikacin concentrations achieved at 30 minutes were higher than those at baseline (p<0.0001) and 15 minutes (p=0.003; Table 2). All baseline serum amikacin concentrations were below the detectable limit of 2.5 µg/mL. For the 10 mL volume, all 15 and 30 minute serum concentrations

were below 2.5  $\mu$ g/mL (Table 2). The serum amikacin concentration was above 2.5  $\mu$ g/mL at 15 minutes for one horse administered the 120 mL volume (4.4  $\mu$ g/mL). The serum amikacin concentration was above 2.5  $\mu$ g/mL at 30 minutes for one horse administered the 60 mL volume (3.3  $\mu$ g/mL) and 2 horses administered the 120 mL volume (3.6 & 2.9  $\mu$ g/mL).

**Table 2** Mean, median, and ranges of amikacin concentrations in the serum (systemic) and the synovial fluid of the tarsocrural joint (TCJ), metatarsophalangeal joint (MTPJ), and hind limb distal interphalangeal joint (HL-DIPJ) of 6 horses at 15 and 30 minutes after saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion using different perfusate volumes (10 mL, 60 mL, and 120 mL) containing 1g of amikacin. >40 µg/mL is the concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens. >160 µg/mL is the concentration considered therapeutic for resistant pathogens. \*Denotes n=5 due to inability to collect samples in one horse. †Denotes concentration at 30 minutes significantly different than that at 15 minutes (p=0.003.) ‡Denotes median concentrations over the concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens.

Perfusate volume	Region	Time (min)	Mean (µg/mL)	Median (µg/mL)	Range (µg/mL)	#>40µg/mL	#>160µg/mL
10-1	Systemic	15	0	0	0-0	N/A	N/A
		30	0	0	0-0	N/A	N/A
	TCJ	15	349.0	7.5	0-2056.9	1/6	1/6
		30	177.8†	19.7	0-975.9	2/6	1/6
TOML	MTPJ	15	6.0	3.3	0-20.7	0/6	0/6
		30	27.9 <sup>†</sup>	26.9	11.7-52.1	1/6	0/6
		15	13.9	0	0-56.1	1/5	0/5
	HL-DIPJ*	30	135.3†	55.4 <sup>‡</sup>	0-452.8	3/5	1/5
	Systemic	15	0	0	0-0	N/A	N/A
		30	0.5	0	0-3.3	N/A	N/A
	ТСЈ	15	28.1	28.6	0-50.2	2/6	0/6
60mL		30	97.9 <sup>†</sup>	67 <sup>‡</sup>	6.8-321.2	4/6	1/6
	MTPJ	15	10.6	8.2	0-24.9	0/6	0/6
		30	60.3 <sup>†</sup>	51.6 <sup>‡</sup>	21.2-124.3	3/6	0/6
	HL-DIPJ	15	73.9	15.6	0-332.3	2/6	1/6
		30	124.5†	49.3 <sup>‡</sup>	0-329.9	3/6	2/6
	Systemic	15	0.7	0	0-4.4	N/A	N/A
		30	1.1	0	0-3.6	N/A	N/A
	ТСЈ	15	45.8	25.9	0-169.4	1/6	1/6
120mL		30	120.8 <sup>†</sup>	43.8 <sup>‡</sup>	7.3-360.6	4/6	2/6
	MTPJ	15	43.8	22.8	0-122.5	2/6	0/6
		30	77.1†	42.9 <sup>‡</sup>	0-157.5	4/6	1/6
	HL-DIPJ	15	27.9	7.7	0-93.6	2/6	0/6
		30	65.0 <sup>†</sup>	56 <sup>‡</sup>	30.7-122.2	5/6	0/6

The median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in all joints studied were below the concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens (40  $\mu$ g/mL) at 15 minutes for all volumes of perfusate and were below this concentration at 30 minutes for the TCJ and MTPJ using the 10 mL volume (Figure 1). The median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in all joints were above the concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens at 30 minutes for the 60 mL and 120 mL perfusate volumes (Figure 1). Only the HL-DIPJ was above this concentration at 30 minutes with the 10 mL volume (Figure 1). No median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations are above the concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens at 30 minutes for the 60 mL and 120 mL perfusate volumes (Figure 1). No median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations were above the concentration considered therapeutic for resistant pathogens at either 15 or 30 minutes in any joint (Figure 1).

**Figure 1** Median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the tarsocrural joint (TCJ), metatarsophalangeal joint (MTPJ), and hind limb distal interphalangeal joint (HL-DIPJ) of six horses at 15 and 30 minutes following saphenous intravenous regional limb perfusion using different perfusate volumes (10mL, 60mL, &120mL) containing 1g of amikacin. Error bars denote positive standard error at 30 minutes. Dotted line indicates concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens ( $40\mu g/mL$ ). \*Denotes n=5 due to inability to collect samples in one horse.



32

## CHAPTER V

#### CONCLUSION

The results of the current study support the hypothesis that perfusate volume does not affect synovial fluid amikacin concentrations achieved in the TCJ, MTPJ, and HL-DIPJ with saphenous IV-RLP in standing horses. These results are consistent with Moser et al. (2016) which reported no significant difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the RCJ and FL-DIPJ after cephalic IV-RLP comparing four perfusate volumes (10 mL, 30 mL, 60 mL, & 120 mL) in standing horses. The results of the current study are also consistent with Hyde et al. (2013) which reported no significant difference in synovial fluid gentamicin concentrations in the MCPJ after digital IV-RLP comparing three volumes (10 mL, 30 mL, & 60 mL) in standing horses. However, the results of the current study are in contrary to Oreff et al. (2016) which reported greater synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the MCPJ after cephalic IV-RLP using a 100 mL perfusate volume compared to smaller volumes (30 ml & 60 mL) in standing horses. In addition to the limb studied, tourniquet type, and slightly different perfusate volumes, a larger amikacin dose (2 g) was used in this prior study (Oreff et al. 2016) compared to the current study (1 g). These differences in study design could account for the discrepancy in reported results. The results reported here are also in contrast to Godfrey et al. (2016) which reported greater synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the MCPJ after digital IV-RLP using a 60 mL perfusate volume compared to a 10 mL volume in recumbent, anesthetized horses. Although the same dose of amikacin (1 g) was used in this (Godfrey et al. 2016) and the current study, differences in study design specifics including tourniquet type, limb, position, and vessel used for IV-RLP could

account for the differences in results.

Contrary to our hypothesis, the mean synovial fluid amikacin concentrations were not different among the three joints studied at either 15 or 30 minutes. Kilcoyne et al. (2016) reported similar synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the RCJ and MCPJ at 10 and 20 minutes after cephalic IV-RLP; however, Moser et al. (2016) described synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the FL-DIPJ significantly higher than those reported in the RCJ at 15 and 30 minutes after cephalic IV-RLP. Differences in vascular perfusion of the HL-DIPJ and FL-DIPJ could explain this discrepancy but further studies evaluating antimicrobial concentrations in the HL-DIPJ after saphenous IV-RLP are warranted.

In the current study, synovial fluid amikacin concentrations measured at 30 minutes were significantly greater compared to those measured at 15 minutes for all joints studied. These results support the use of a tourniquet for longer than 15 minutes when performing saphenous IV-RLP with 1 g of amikacin and are consistent with Kilcoyne et al. (2021) which reported the time required to achieve amikacin Cmax in the synovial fluid of the TCJ after saphenous IV-RLP with 2 g amikacin was 25 minutes (range 20 to 30 minutes). However, the results of the current study are contrast to several studies in the forelimb evaluating cephalic IV-RLP (Kilcoyne et al. 2016; Moser et al. 2016; Kilcoyne et al. 2018; Gustafsson et al. 2020). Kilcoyne et al. (2016) found no difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations of the RCJ or MCPJ after cephalic IV-RLP comparing tourniquet times of 10 and 30 minutes. Additionally, Kilcoyne et al. (2018) found the synovial fluid amikacin Cmax in the FL-DIPJ after cephalic IV-RLP was achieved at 15 minutes, although this study utilized a total tourniquet time of 20 minutes instead of 30 minutes as in the current study. Gustafsson et al. (2020) reported significantly higher synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the RCJ at 15 minutes compared to 30 minutes with the highest concentration in all 6 horses measured between 10 and 20 minutes. Moser et al. (2016) also reported no significant difference in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in either the RCJ or FL-DIPJ at 15 and 30

minutes with 30 mL, 60 mL, and 120 mL perfusate volumes. Interestingly, a higher synovial fluid amikacin concentration was seen in the FL-DIPJ at 30 minutes compared to 15 minutes using a 10 mL perfusate volume (Moser et al. 2016). Anatomic differences between the equine forelimb and hind limb may account for the difference in tourniquet time necessary to reach maximum synovial fluid amikacin concentrations comparing saphenous and cephalic IV-RLP studies.

A larger perfusate volume has been advocated to increase the intravascular pressure and result in a higher drug diffusion rate to the surrounding tissues (Whitehair et al. 1992c). In contrast, a higher intravascular pressure may result in more perfusate escaping into the systemic circulation (Grice et al. 1986) or loss of venous integrity at the injection site leading to extravascular perfusate leakage (Moser et al. 2016). In the current study, systemic amikacin concentrations above the lower limit of quantitation (LLQ) ( $2.5 \,\mu g/mL$ ) were only observed for 6 0mL and 120 mL perfusate volumes. Systemic concentrations above the LLQ were not observed during any IV-RLPs using the 10 mL perfusate volume, indicating superior tourniquet effectiveness with this volume, consistent with our hypothesis. However, contrary to our hypothesis, the mean regional intravascular pressures immediately after perfusate administration did not differ between perfusate volume. These results are consistent with those from Moser et al. (2016) investigating standing cephalic IV-RLPs, but contrasts those from Godfrey et al. (2016) which describes higher pressures with a 60 mL compared to a 10 mL perfusate volume during digital IV-RLP in anesthetized horses. Additionally, in the current study, the 120 mL perfusate volume was associated with local swelling indicating perfusate leakage at the site of saphenous venipuncture in 4/6 (66%) horses. Nonetheless, the synovial fluid amikacin concentrations observed for the 6 0mL & 120 mL perfusate volume were not significantly different from the 10 mL volume, questioning the clinical relevance of these observations.

Median target concentrations of 40  $\mu$ g/mL and 160  $\mu$ g/mL were considered therapeutic for susceptible and resistant pathogens, respectively based on 10 times the recommended MIC for

common equine orthopedic pathogens (CLSI 2020). Medians rather than means were compared to target concentrations due to the large range of synovial fluid amikacin concentrations seen in the current (Table 2) and other IV-RLP studies (Kelmer et al. 2013a; Mahne et al. 2014; Moser et al. 2016; Oreff et al. 2016; Kilcoyne et al. 2016; Harvey et al. 2016; Kilcoyne et al. 2018; Gustafsson et al. 2020; Kilcoyne et al. 2021). For all joints studied, the median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations observed at 30 minutes for the 60 mL and 120 mL perfusate volumes exceeded the target concentration considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens; however, no median synovial fluid concentration reached that considered therapeutic for resistant pathogens at either time for any volume. The median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the TCJ observed in the current study using 60 mL perfusate volume were well below those reported by Kilcoyne et al. (2021) at 15 minutes (29  $\mu$ g/mL; range 0-50 vs. 190  $\mu$ g/mL; range 80–311) and 30 minutes (67 µg/mL; range 7-321 vs. 404 µg/mL; range 285–722). The median synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the MTPJ at 30 minutes with the 60 mL perfusate volume in the current study (52  $\mu$ g/mL) were also well below those reported by Kelmer et al. (2012) (363  $\mu$ g/mL). The current study administered a total dose of 1 g of amikacin whereas Kilcoyne et al. (2021) and Kelmer et al. (2012) both administered twice that (2 g), which likely explains the discrepancy in synovial fluid amikacin concentrations between the studies. A larger amikacin dose (2 g versus 3 g) has been shown to result in higher synovial fluid amikacin concentrations in the ICJ with cephalic IV-RLP (Harvey et al. 2016). In an in vitro study, Pezzanite et al. (2020) found that 24-hour exposure to a concentration of ~800 µg/mL amikacin resulted in the death of 50% of synoviocytes and a concentration of ~300 µg/mL resulted in death of 50% of chondrocytes, indicating amikacin has a dose-dependent cytotoxic effect on articular tissue. Prior studies have shown a rapid rise followed by a rapid decrease in synovial fluid amikacin concentration within the first 24 hours after tourniquet release with cephalic (Kelmer et al. 2013a; Kilcoyne et al. 2016), saphenous (Scheuch et al. 2002; Kelmer et al. 2013a), and digital (Godfrey et al. 2016) IV-RLP. Although the initial synovial fluid amikacin concentrations reported in these

studies may have exceeded those described as cytotoxic by Pezzanite et al. (2020), the rapid decrease in concentration may allow these cells to recover. To the author's knowledge, adverse effects on the articular tissues directly attributed to the clinical use of amikacin via IV-RLP are not reported but they may be difficult to distinguish from those expected from a septic arthritic process and thus overlooked. In vivo studies evaluating the cytotoxic effects of different doses of amikacin administered via IV-RLP are warranted.

Limitations of this study include the use of normal horses free of septic arthritis, and the addition of LRS to the joint compartments to facilitate synovial fluid sampling. The latter created effusion and could have had a dilutional effect, decreasing the synovial fluid amikacin concentrations observed; however, the addition of LRS was done prior to the IV-RLP allowing the total volume (LRS plus the existing synovial fluid) to be perfused. Horses with joint disease, especially those with joint sepsis, generally exhibit considerable joint effusion, thus this model was possibly more clinically accurate. Beccar-Varela et al. (2011) reported inflammation within synovial structures to alter the pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of amikacin, resulting in increased synovial fluid amikacin concentrations and a decreased time to reach maximum synovial fluid amikacin concentrations uses and a decreased time to reach maximum synovial fluid amikacin synovial structures after saphenous IV-RLP are warranted. Additionally, the possibility for Type II error to 20% was performed prior to data collection, yielding a minimum sample size of 6; however, increasing the number of horses utilized would have reduced the likelihood of Type II error.

The results of the current study indicate perfusate volumes of 10-120 mL result in similar synovial fluid amikacin concentrations after saphenous IV-RLP with 1 g of amikacin. The 10 mL perfusate volume was associated with less injection complications compared to the larger (6 0mL & 120 mL) volumes. The median synovial fluid amikacin concentration was above that

considered therapeutic for susceptible pathogens in the synovial fluid of the TCJ, MTPJ, and HL-DIPJ at 30 minutes with the 60 mL and 120 mL perfusate volumes. This concentration was not observed with the 10 mL volume in either the TCJ or MTPJ. Concentrations considered therapeutic for resistant pathogens were not achieved with saphenous IVRLP using 1 g of amikacin in any joint studied. Therefore, regardless of perfusate volume used, treatment of septic arthritis with amikacin delivered via saphenous IV-RLP would likely require a dose greater than 1 g to be effective for pathogens considered resistant. Further investigation focused on perfusate volume effect of synovial fluid concentrations using a higher dose of amikacin delivered via saphenous IV-RLP is needed before recommendations related to perfusate volume can be made. This additional research is also essential in determining whether higher doses of amikacin delivered via saphenous IV-RLP can achieve concentrations considered therapeutic for resistant pathogens. Additionally, further research is required to determine the effect of multiple tourniquets on synovial fluid concentrations in the hind limb following saphenous IV-RLP, similar to the work done by Schoonover et al. (2017).

IV-RLP is a very cost-effective, minimally invasive, and safe technique that achieves high concentrations of an antibiotic in synovial structures of the distal limb in horses. Although much has been done in the way of research, much more evaluation is necessary to continue addressing inconsistencies in technique and determine protocols to optimize treatment with IV-RLP in

horses.

## REFERENCES

Alkabes SB, Adams SB, Moore GE, Alkabes KC. Comparison of two tourniquets and determination of amikacin sulfate concentrations after metacarpophalangeal joint lavage performed simultaneously with intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res*, 2011;72(5):613-619.

Ahern BJ, Richardson DW. Surgical site infection and the use of antimicrobials. In: Auer JA, Stick JA, eds. Equine Surgery. Fourth ed. W.B. Saunders; 2012:68-84.

Aristizabal FA, Nieta JE, Guedes AG, Dechant JE, Yamout S, Morales B, Snyder J. Comparison of two tourniquet application times for regional intravenous limb perfusions with amikacin in sedated or anesthetized horses. *The Vet J.* 2016;208:50-54. doi:10.1016/j.tvjl.2015.10.017

Beccar-Varela AM, Epstein KL, White CL. Effect of experimentally induced synovitis on amikacin concentrations after intravenous regional limb perfusion. *Vet Surg.* 2011;40(7):891-897. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950X.2011.00875.x

Bertone AL, Palmer JL, Jones J. Synovial fluid inflammatory mediators as markers of equine synovitis. *Vet Surg.* 1993;22:372-373.

Biasutti SA, Cox E, Jeffcott LB, and Dart AJ. A review of regional limb perfusion for distal limb infections in the horse. *Equine Vet Educ*. 2021;33: 263-277. doi:10.1111/eve.13243

Bier A. Upereinenveven weglocalanaesthesiean den gliedmassenzuerzeugen. Arch Klein Chir 1908;86:1007.

Bonilla AG, Causeret L, Torrent-Crosa A. Pharmacokinetics of ceftiofur in the metacarpophalangeal joint after standing intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Can Vet J*. 2021;62(9):975-981.

Brumbaugh GW. Use of antimicrobials in wound management. *Vet Clin N Am: Equine Pract*. 2005;21:63-75.

Butt TD, Bailey JV, Dowling PM, Fretz PB. Comparison of 2 techniques for regional antibiotic delivery to the equine forelimb: intraosseous perfusion vs. intravenous perfusion. *Can Vet J*. 2001;42(8):617-622.

CLSI. Performance standards for antimicrobial disk and dilution susceptibility tests for bacteria isolated from animals. CLSI Supplement VET01S. Fifth ed. Clinical and Laboratory Standards Institute; 2020.

Cousty M, Stack JD, Tricaud C, and David F. Effect of arthroscopic lavage and repeated intraarticular administrations of antibiotic in adult horses and foals with septic arthritis. *Vet Surg.* 2017;46:1008-1016. doi:10.1111/vsu.12696

Cox KS, Nelson BB, Wittenburg L, Gold JR. Plasma, subcutaneous tissue and bone concentrations of ceftiofur sodium after regional limb perfusion in horses. *Equine Vet J*. 2017;49(3):341-344. doi:10.1111/evj.12614

Creech O Jr, Krementz ET, Ryan RF, Winblad JN. Chemotherapy of cancer: regional perfusion utilizing an extracorporeal circuit. *Ann Surg.* 1958;148(4):616-632. doi:10.1097/00000658-195810000-00009

Dahan R, Britzi M, Sutton GA, Sorek S, Kelmer G. Evaluation of the Pharmacokinetic Properties of a Combination of Marbofloxacin and Imipenem Administered by Regional Limb Perfusion to Standing Horses. *J Eq Vet Sci.* 2017;53:1-7. doi:10.1016/j.jevs.2016.12.012

Dahan R, Oreff GL, Tatz AJ, Raz T, Britzi M, Kelmer G. Pharmacokinetics of regional limb perfusion using a combination of amikacin and penicillin in standing horses. *Can Vet J*. 2019;60(3):294-299.

Edwards-Milewski ML, Morello SL, Zhao QQ, and Mattan-Bell C. The effect of intravenous regional perfusion of the distal limb with amikacin sulfate on wounds healing by second intention in horses. *Vet Surg* 2016;45:125-132.

Findley JA, Pinchbeck GL, Milner PI, Bladon BM, Boswell J, Mair TS, Suthers JM, Singer ER. Outcome of horses with synovial structure involvement following solar foot penetrations in 4 UK veterinary hospitals: 95 cases. *Equine Vet J*. 2014;46: 352-357. doi:10.1111/evj.12124

Finsterbusch A, Argaman M, Sacks T. Bone and Joint Perfusion with Antibiotics in the Treatment of Experimental Staphylococcal Infection in Rabbits. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*. 1970;52(7):1424-1432.

Finsterbush A, Weinberg H. Venous Perfusion of the Limb with Antibiotics for Osteomyelitis and Other Chronic Infections. *The Journal of Bone & Joint Surgery*. 1972;54(6):1227-1234.

Fontenot, RL, Langston, VC, Zimmerman, JA, Wills, RW, Sloan, PB, Mochal-King, CA. Meropenem synovial fluid concentrations after intravenous regional limb perfusion in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2018; 47: 852- 860. doi:10.1111/vsu.12940

Glass K, Watts AE. Septic Arthritis, Physitis, and Osteomyelitis in Foals. Vet Clin North Am Equine Pract. 2017;33(2):299-314. doi:10.1016/j.cveq.2017.03.002

Grice SC, Morell RC, Balestrieri FJ, Stump DA, Howard G. Intravenous regional anesthesia: evaluation and prevention of leakage under the tourniquet. *Anesthesiology*. 1986;65(3):316-320.

Godfrey JL, Hardy J, Cohen ND. Effects of regional limb perfusion volume on concentrations of amikacin sulfate in synovial and interstitial fluid samples from anesthetized horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2016;77(6):582-588. doi:10.2460/ajvr.77.6.582

Gustafsson K, Tatz AJ, Dahan R, et al. Time to peak concentration of amikacin in the antebrachiocarpal joint following cephalic intravenous regional limb perfusion in standing horses. *Vet Comp Orthop Traumatol*. 2020;33(5):327-332. doi:10.1055/s-0040-1714418

Gustafsson K, Tatz AJ, Dahan R, Abu Ahmad W, Britzi M, Sutton GA, Kelmer G. Synovial Concentration of Trimethoprim-Sulphadiazine Following Regional Limb Perfusion in Standing Horses. *Animals*. 2021a;11(7):2085. doi:10.3390/ani11072085

Gustafsson K, Tatz AJ, Dahan R, et al. The Concentration of Metronidazole in the Distal Interphalangeal Joint following Intravenous Regional Limb Perfusion via the Cephalic Vein in Standing Horses. *Vet Comp Orthop Traumatol*. 2021b;34(4):287-293. doi:10.1055/s-0041-1726083

Harvey A, Kilcoyne I, Byrne BA, Nieto J. Effect of dose on intra-articular amikacin sulfate concentrations following intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Vet Surg.* 2016;45(8):1077-1082. doi:10.1111/vsu.12564

Hurley JD, Wilson SD, Worman LW, Carey LC. Chronic Osteomyelitis: Treatment by Regional Perfusion With Antibiotics. *Arch Surg.* 1966;92(4):548–553. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1966.01320220104017

Hyde RM, Lynch TM, Clark CK, Slone DE, Hughes FE. The influence of perfusate volume on antimicrobial concentration in synovial fluid following intravenous regional limb perfusion in the standing horse. *Can Vet J.* 2013;54(4):363-367.

Jones RF, Barnett JA, Gregory CF. Regional Perfusion With Antibiotics for Chronic Bone Infections. *Arch Surg.* 1973;106(2):142–144. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1973.01350140010005

Karnofsky DA, Abelmann WH, Craver LF, Burchenal JH. The use of nitrogen mustards in the palliative treatment of carcinoma. *Cancer*. 1948a;1:634.

Karnofsky DA, Graef I, Smith HW. Studies on the mechanism of action of the nitrogen and sulfur mustards in vivo. *Am J Pathol*. 1948b;24(2):275-291.

Kelmer G, Tatz A, and Bdolah-Abram T. Indwelling cephalic or saphenous vein catheter use for regional limb perfusion in 44 horses with synovial injury involving the distal aspect of the limb. *Vet Surg.* 2012;41:938-943.

Kelmer G, Bell GC, Martin-Jimenez T, et al. Evaluation of regional limb perfusion with amikacin using the saphenous, cephalic, and palmar digital veins in standing horses. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*. 2013a;36(3):236-240. doi:10.1111/j.1365-2885.2012.01414.x

Kelmer G, Martin-Jimenez T, Saxton AM, Catasus C, Elliot SB, Lakritz J. Evaluation of regional limb perfusion with erythromycin using the saphenous, cephalic, or palmar digital veins in standing horses. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*. 2013b;36(5):434-440. doi:10.1111/jvp.12028

Kelmer G, Tatz AJ, Famini S, Bdolah-Abram T, Soback S, Britzi M. Evaluation of regional limb perfusion with chloramphenicol using the saphenous or cephalic vein in standing horses. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther.* 2015;38(1):35-40. doi:10.1111/jvp.12140

Kelmer G. Regional limb perfusion in horses. *Vet Rec.* 2016;178(23):581-584. doi:10.1136/vr.i3082

Kelmer G, Tatz AJ, Kdoshim E, Britzi M, Segev G. Evaluation of the pharmacokinetics of imipenem following regional limb perfusion using the saphenous and the cephalic veins in standing horses. *Res Vet Sci.* 2017;114:64-68. doi:10.1016/j.rvsc.2017.02.020

Kilcoyne I, Dechant JE, Nieto JE. Evaluation of 10-minute versus 30-minute tourniquet time for intravenous regional limb perfusion with amikacin sulfate in standing sedated horses. *Vet Rec*. 2016;178(23):585. doi:10.1136/vr.103609

Kilcoyne I, Nieto JE, Knych HK, Dechant JE. Time required to achieve maximum concentration of amikacin in synovial fluid of the distal interphalangeal joint after intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2018;79(3):282-286. doi:10.2460/ajvr.79.3.282

Kilcoyne I, Nieto JE, Galuppo LD, Dechant JE. Time required to achieve maximum amikacin concentration in the synovial fluid of the tarsocrural joint following administration of the drug by intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2021;82(2):99-104. doi:10.2460/ajvr.82.2.99

Lallemand E, Trencart P, Tahier C, Dron F, Paulin A, Tessier C. Pharmacokinetics, Pharmacodynamics and Local Tolerance at Injection Site of Marbofloxacin Administered by Regional Intravenous Limb Perfusion in Standing Horses. *Vet Surg.* 2013;42:649-657. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950X.2013.12030.x

Langer K, Seidler C, Partsch H. Ultrastructural study of the dermal microvasculature in patients undergoing retrograde intravenous pressure infusions. *Dermatology*. 1996;192:103-109.

Levine DG, Epstein KL, Neelis DA, Ross MW. Effect of topical application of 1% diclofenac sodium liposomal cream on inflammation in healthy horses undergoing intravenous regional limb perfusion with amikacin sulfate. *Am J Vet Res.* 2009;70:1323-1325.

Levine DG, Epstein KL, Ahern BJ, Richardson DW. Efficacy of three tourniquet types for intravenous antimicrobial regional limb perfusion in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2010;39(8):1021-1024. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950X.2010.00732.x

Mahne AT, Rioja E, Marais HJ, Villarino NF, Rubio-Martinez LM. General or regional anaesthesia during regional limb perfusion with amikacin. *Equine Vet J*. 2014;46: 375-379. doi:10.1111/evj.12125

Mattson S, Bouré L, Pearce S, Hurtig M, Burger J, Black W. Intraosseous gentamicin perfusion of the distal metacarpus in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2004;33(2):180-186. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950x.2004.04026.x

McIlwraith, C. Wayne, et al. Endoscopic Surgery in the Management of Contamination and Infection of Joints, Tendon Sheaths, and Bursae. In: Diagnostic and Surgical Arthroscopy in the Horse. Fourth Edition. St. Louis: Elsevier; 2015:407–418.

Milner PI, Bardell DA, Warner L, Packer MJ, Senior JM, Singer ER, Archer DC. Factors associated with survival to hospital discharge following endoscopic treatment for synovial sepsis in 214 horses. *Equine Vet J.* 2014;46:701–705. doi:10.1111/evj.12212

Moser DK, Schoonover MJ, Holbrook TC, Payton ME. Effect of regional intravenous limb perfusate volume on synovial fluid concentration of amikacin and local venous blood pressure in the horse. *Vet Surg.* 2016;45(7):851-858. doi:10.1111/vsu.12521

Mosichuk AP, Smith JS, Tatarniuk DM, Troy JR, Kreuder AJ. Meropenem Administered via Intravenous Regional Limb Perfusion for Orthopedic Sepsis in Horses: A Clinical Retrospective Study. *Front Vet Sci.* 2021;8:629-627. doi:10.3389/fvets.2021.629627

Moyer W, Schumacher J, Schumacher J. Part 1: joint injection. In: Moyer W, Schumacher J, Schumacher J, eds. Equine Joint Injection and Regional Anesthesia. Fifth ed. Academic Veterinary Solutions, LLC; 2011a:4-89.

Moyer W, Schumacher J, Schumacher J. Part 2: regional anesthesia. In: Moyer W, Schumacher J, Schumacher J, eds. Equine Joint Injection and Regional Anesthesia. Fifth ed. Academic Veterinary Solutions, LLC; 2011b:90-144.

Murphey ED, Santschi EM, and Papich MG. Regional intravenous perfusion of the distal limb of horses with amikacin sulfate. *J. Vet. Pharmacol Therap.* 1999;22:68-71.

Nieto JE, Trela J, Stanley SD, Yamout S, Snyder JR. Pharmacokinetics of a combination of amikacin sulfate and penicillin G sodium for intravenous regional limb perfusion in adult horses. *Can J Vet Res.* 2016;80(3):230-235.

Oreff GL, Dahan R, Tatz AJ, Raz T, Britzi M, Kelmer G. The effect of perfusate volume on amikacin concentration in the metacarpophalangeal joint following cephalic regional limb perfusion in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2016;45(5):625-630. doi:10.1111/vsu.12490

Oreff, GL, Tatz, AJ, Dahan, R, et al. Pharmacokinetics of ceftazidime after regional limb perfusion in standing horses. *Vet Surg.* 2017;46:1120-1125. doi:10.1111/vsu.12720

Orsini J. Meta-analysis of Clinical Factors Affecting Synovial Infections and Prognosis. J Eq Vet Sci. 2017;55. doi:10.1016/j.jevs.2017.01.018

Palmer JL, Bertone AL. Joint structure, biochemistry, and biochemical disequilibrium in synovitis and equine joint disease. *Equine Vet J.* 1994;26:263-277.

Parra-Sanchez A, Lugo J, Boothe DM, Gaughan EM, Hanson RR, Duran S, Belknap JK. Pharmacokinetics and pharmacodynamics of enrofloxacin and a low dose of amikacin administered via regional intravenous limb perfusion in standing horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2006;67(10):1687-1695.

Parker RA, Bladon BM, McGovern K, and Smith KC. Osteomyelitis and osteonecrosis after intraosseous perfusion with gentamicin. *Vet Surg.* 2010;39:644-648.

Pezzanite L, Chow L, Soontararak S, Phillips J, Goodrich L, Dow S. Amikacin induces rapid dose-dependent apoptotic cell death in equine chondrocytes and synovial cells in vitro. *Equine Vet J*. 2020;52(5):715-724. doi:10.1111/evj.13243

Pille F, De Baere S, Ceelen L, Dewulf J, Croubels S, Gasthuys F, De Backer P, Martens A. Synovial Fluid and Plasma Concentrations of Ceftiofur After Regional Intravenous Perfusion in the Horse. *Vet Surg.* 2005;34:610-617. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950X.2005.00095.x

Plunkett AH, Schoonover MJ, Young JM, Taylor JD, Holbrook TC. Subtourniquet pressures generated by application of wide-rubber tourniquets in standing, sedated horses. *Vet Surg.* 2019;48:417-423. doi:10.1111/vsu.13181

Richardson, DW and Stewart, S. Synovial and Osseous Infection. In: Auer JA, Stick JA. Equine Surgery. Fifth edition. St. Louis: Elsevier; 2019:1458-1470.

Rinnovati R, Butina BB, Lanci A, Mariella J. Diagnosis, treatment, surgical management, and outcome of septic arthritis of tarsocrural joint in 16 foals. *J Eq Vet Sci.* 2018 ;67:128-132. doi:10.1016/j.jevs.2018.04.003.

Robinson CS, Timofte D, Singer ER, Rimmington L, Rubio-Martínez LM. Prevalence and antimicrobial susceptibility of bacterial isolates from horses with synovial sepsis: A cross-sectional study of 95 cases. *Vet J*. 2016;216:117-121.

Rubio-Martínez LM, López-Sanromán J, Cruz AM, Santos M, Andrés MS, Román FS. Evaluation of safety and pharmacokinetics of vancomycin after intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2005;66(12):2107-2113. doi:10.2460/ajvr.2005.66.2107

Rubio-Martínez LM, Cruz AM. Antimicrobial regional limb perfusion in horses. *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 2006;228:706–712.

Rubio-Martínez LM, Elmas CR, Black B, Monteith G. Clinical use of antimicrobial regional limb perfusion in horses: 174 cases (1999–2009). *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 2012;241:1650-1658. doi:10.2460/javma.241.12.1650

Ryan RF, Reemtsma K, Beddingfield GW, Creech O, Wickstrom J. Regional Perfusion with Antibiotics: Method for the Treatment of Chronic Infections. *Arch Surg.* 1961;82(3):482–487. doi:10.1001/archsurg.1961.01300090152030

Scheuch BC, Van Hoogmoed LM, Wilson WD, et al. Comparison of intraosseous or intravenous infusion for delivery of amikacin sulfate to the tibiotarsal joint of horses. *Am J Vet Res*. 2002;63(3):374-380. doi:10.2460/ajvr.2002.63.374

Schoonover MJ, Moser DK, Young JM, Payton ME, Holbrook TC. Effects of tourniquet number and exsanguination on amikacin concentrations in the radiocarpal and distal interphalangeal joints after low volume intravenous regional limb perfusion in horses. *Vet Surg.* 2017;46: 675- 682. doi:10.1111/vsu.12662

Schneider, Robert K. Treatment of Posttraumatic Septic Arthritis. In: Proceedings of the Annual Convention of the AAEP. 1998;44:167–171.

Snowden RT, Schumacher J, Blackford JT, et al. Tarsocrural joint polymyxin B concentrations achieved following intravenous regional limb perfusion of the drug via a saphenous vein to healthy standing horses. *Am J Vet Res.* 2019;80(12):1099-1106. doi:10.2460/ajvr.80.12.1099

Sole A, Nieto JE, Aristizabal FA, Snyder JR. Effect of emptying the vasculature before performing regional limb perfusion with amikacin in horses. *Equine Vet J*, 2016;48:737-740. doi:10.1111/evj.12501

Spiers S, May SA, Harrison IJ, et al. Proteolytic enzymes in equine joints with infectious arthritis. *Equine Vet J.* 1994;26:48-50.

Stewart S, Richardson D. Surgical site infection and the use of antimicrobials. In: Auer JA, Stick JA, eds. Equine Surgery. Fifth ed. Elsevier; 2019:77-103.

Taylor AH, Mair TS, Smith LJ, et al. Bacterial culture of septic synovial structures of horses: does a positive bacterial culture influence prognosis? *Equine Vet J.* 2010;42:213 218.

Wereszka MM, White NA, Furr, MO. Factors associated with outcome following treatment of horses with septic tenosynovitis: 51 cases (1986–2003). *J Am Vet Med Assoc*. 2007;230(8):1195-1200.

Werner LA, Hardy J, Bertone AL. Bone gentamicin concentration after intra-articular injection or regional intravenous perfusion in the horse. *Vet Surg.* 2003;32: 559-565. doi:10.1111/j.1532-950X.2003.00559.x

Whitehair KJ, Blevins WE, Fessler JF, Van Sickle DC, White MR, Bill RP. Regional Perfusion of the Equine Carpus for Antibiotic Delivery. *Vet Surg.* 1992a;21(4):279-285.

Whitehair KJ, Adams SB, Parker JE, Blevins WE, Fessler JF. Regional Limb Perfusion with Antibiotics in Three Horses. *Vet Surg.* 1992b;21(4):286-292.

Whitehair KJ, Bowersock TL, Blevins WE, Fessler JF, White MR, Van Sickle DC. Regional Limb Perfusion for Antibiotic Treatment of Experimentally Induced Septic Arthritis. 1992c;21(5):367-373.

Wright L, Ekstrøm CT, Kristoffersen M, Lindegaard C. Haematogenous septic arthritis in foals: Short- and long-term outcome and analysis of factors affecting prognosis. *Equine Vet Educ*. 2017;29:328-336. doi:10.1111/eve.12616

Zantingh AJ, Schwark WS, Fubini SL, Watts AE. Accumulation of Amikacin in Synovial Fluid After Regional Limb Perfusion of Amikacin Sulfate Alone and in Combination With Ticarcillin/Clavulanate in Horses. *Vet Surg.* 2014;43:282-288. doi:10.1111/j.1532950X.2014.12119.x

# **APPENDICES**

### Appendix 1 List of Abbreviations

- RLP Regional limb perfusion
- IV-Intravenous
- IO-Intraosseus
- IV-RLP -- Intravenous regional limb perfusion
- IO-RLP Intraosseus regional limb perfusion
- MTPJ Metatarsophalangeal joint
- TCJ Tarsocrural joint
- HL-DIPJ Hind limb distal interphalangeal joint
- RCJ Radiocarpal joint
- FL-DIPJ Forelimb distal interphalangeal joint
- MIC Minimum inhibitory concentration
- Cmax Maximum concentration
- MCPJ Metacarpophalangeal joint
- MRSA Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus
- LRS Lactated ringer's solution
- LLQ Lower limit of quantitation
- ICJ Intercarpal joint

# VITA

# Kelsey Alexandra Jurek

Candidate for the Degree of

## Master of Science

# Thesis: EFFECT OF PERFUSATE VOLUME ON AMIKACIN CONCENTRATIONS AFTER SAPHENOUS INTRAVENOUS REGIONAL LIMB PERFUSION IN STANDING, SEDATED HORSES

Major Field: Veterinary Biomedical Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Veterinary Biomedical Sciences at Oklahoma State University, Stillwater, Oklahoma in May, 2022.

Completed the requirements for the Doctor of Veterinary Medicine at University of Minnesota CVM, St. Paul, Minnesota in 2017.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Science in Animal Science at University of Wisconsin – River Falls, River Falls, Wisconsin in 2013.

Experience:

Equine surgery resident, Oklahoma State University CVM, Stillwater, Oklahoma, 2019-2022

- Large animal surgery specialty intern, Tufts University Cummings School of Veterinary Medicine, Grafton, Massachusetts, 2018-2019
- Equine veterinary intern, Stillwater Equine Veterinary Services, Stillwater, Minnesota, 2017-2018

Professional Memberships:

ACVS (resident)